STATE OF INDIANA

INDIANA UTILITY REGULATORY COMMISSION

PETITION OF INDIANA MICHIGAN POWER
COMPANY, AN INDIANA CORPORATION, FOR
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(7) NEW SCHEDULES OF RATES, RULES AND
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ALLIANCE COAL, LLC’S RESPONSE
TO INDIANA MICHIGAN POWER COMPANY’S MOTION TO STRIKE
CROSS-ANSWERING TESTIMONY

Alliance Coal, LLC (Alliance), by counsel, responds to Indiana Michigan Power

Company’s (I&M) September 20, 2019 Motion to Strike Alliance’s Cross-Answering Testimony

(Motion). Because the stated grounds for 1&M’s Motion are baseless, Alliance respectfully

requests that the Presiding Officers deny I&M’s Motion. In further support, Alliance states:

1. Alliance Obeyed the Intervention Conditions by Filing Proper and Timely

Cross-Answering Testimony

Despite the Commission’s order granting Alliance’s intervention, I&M effectively seeks

to exclude Alliance from meaningful participation in this proceeding. Contrary to I&M’s

allegations, Alliance obeyed the terms of the Commission's order granting intervention; took the


thorn
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case as it found it on the date intervention was granted; and properly filed timely cross-
answering testimony taking exception to the recommendations of OUCC witness Armstrong.
Alliance’s testimony squarely addresses the issues and recommendations of witness Armstrong
and is not, as I&M suggests, direct testimony. Nothing in the Order granting Alliance’s
intervention petition barred Alliance from filing cross-answering testimony, and accordingly,
there was no requirement that Alliance seek special permission to file the testimony.

1&M’s Motion mischaracterizes a statement in Alliance’s Reply in Support of its Appeal
to the Full Commission (Reply) by suggesting that Alliance conceded that it could not file any
testimony if its intervention was granted.' Of course, Alliance said no such thing. On the date
Alliance filed its Reply (September 4, 2019), the deadline for Alliance to file direct testimony
had passed (August 20, 2019). Alliance’s statement was an acknowledgment that the date for
filing direct testimony had passed: “Even if the Commission grants Alliance’s intervention at
this late date, Alliance will have been denied the opportunity to file testimony in the proceeding
under the existing procedural schedule absent permission.”” Alliance’s Reply went on to make
clear that “Alliance continues to request intervention so that it can participate in the remainder of
the proceeding” which included, among other things, Alliance’s option to file cross-answering
testimony. As such, Alliance’s Reply neither explicitly nor implicitly waived Alliance’s right to
file timely cross-answering testimony.

[&M baselessly claims that Alliance’s cross-answering testimony is actually direct
testimony and I&M mangles the [IURC’s procedural rules by claiming that only the OUCC and

Intervenors of record as of the June 26, 2019 Pre-Hearing Conference Order were entitled to file

' Motion at 2, emphasis added.
21, emphasis added.



cross-answering testimony.3 Indiana courts make clear that “[a]n intervenor is treated as if it was
an original party and has equal standing with the parties.” Mercantile Nat’l Bank v. Teamsters
Union Local #142 Pension Fund, 668 N.E.2d 1269, 1996 Ind. App. LEXIS 974. As is discussed
in fuller detail below, Alliance’s testimony is proper cross-answering testimony — not direct
testimony. Because intervenors take [URC proceedings as they find them, intervenors are
entitled to participate fully in a proceeding as of the date intervention is granted. Thus, Alliance
is entitled to fully participate in any and all of the opportunities to be heard that exist after the
Commission granted its intervention on September 11, 2019, including the filing of cross-
answering testimony.

2. The Cross-Answering Testimony Properly Addresses Arguments Raised by

OUCC Witness Armstrong

Alliance's cross-answering testimony is not direct testimony as I&M asserts. Rather,
because it directly addresses and takes exception to the recommendations of OUCC witness
Armstrong, Alliance’s testimony is proper cross-answering testimony. If it were direct
testimony, it would directly refute 1&M's witnesses. It does not. Alliance's cross-answering
testimony makes not a single reference to the testimony of any I&M witness. The testimony is
limited to addressing the recommendations of the OUCC and the testimony of OUCC witness
Armstrong. Contrary to I&M’s assertions that Alliance witness Mr. Norfleet makes “passing
references” to testimony offered by the OUCC, Mr. Norfleet makes approximately one dozen
references to witness Armstrong and/or the OUCC’s positions. As I&M admits, “[c]ross-
answering testimony affords the OUCC and other intervenors an opportunity to contradict, refute

or otherwise disprove the arguments raised by other non-petitioning parties,”* which is precisely

* Motion at 2.
4 Motion at 4.



what Alliance’s cross-answering testimony does. As such, all of I&M's arguments fail because

they are based on the faulty premise that Alliance filed direct testimony.

3. I&M Fails to Demonstrate that Alliance’s Cross-Answering Testimony Burdens
the Proceeding or Prejudices I& M

I1&M makes the nonsensical claim that Alliance’s cross-answering testimony “has unduly
burdened this proceeding with the potential for additional discovery, cross-examination and
additional matters to be addressed in the course of the post-hearing briefing process.”> How can
a proceeding be unduly burdened by the potential of discovery, cross-examination or post-
hearing issues? &M has not even attempted to demonstrate how Alliance has unduly burdened
the proceeding — because Alliance has not. Alliance has not introduced voluminous testimony
raising new or expanding existing issues. Instead, it has properly confined its cross-answering
testimony to a single issue raised by the OUCC. Like any other intervenor, Alliance is
unquestionably entitled to offer cross-answering testimony, and Alliance's cross-answering
testimony appropriately identifies concerns that the OUCC's position is not based on sufficient
information and fails to recommend the appropriate outcome. I&M may address Alliance's
recommendations through cross-examination and post-hearing submissions. As such, I&M has
not been prejudiced by Alliance's cross-answering testimony.

[I&M erroneously contends that Alliance's recommendation raises matters outside the
scope of this general rate case. Notably, I&M did not move to strike OUCC witness Armstrong's
testimony on the same subject. Alliance's recommendation is well within the scope of the
proceeding since 1&M has asked the Commission for permission to include in rates the costs

associated with dry sorbent injection (DSI) and since the Commission has the latitude to order

5 Motion at 5.



that which is necessary to effectuate the regulatory scheme. South E. Ind. Natural Gas Co. v.
Ingram, 617 N.E.2d 943, 1993 Ind. App. LEXIS 846. The Commission certainly has discretion in
this proceeding to disallow 1&M's enhanced DSI costs from rate base and to encourage I&M to
explore whether better alternatives are available that would allow the Rockport unit to meet the
environmental requirements, continue operating past its planned retirement date and burn
potentially lower-cost coal that will ultimately result in lower cost of energy for ratepayers.
Likewise, Alliance is well within its rights to make such a recommendation for the Commission's
consideration.  Ultimately, Alliance's recommendation is proper cross-answering testimony
appropriate for admission into evidence and worthy of the weight deemed suitable by the
Commission.

WHEREFORE, Alliance Coal, LLC respectfully requests that the Commission deny

1&M’s Motion to Strike Alliance’s Cross-Answering Testimony.

Respectfully submitted,
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Bose McKinney & Evans LLP

111 Monument Circle, Suite 2700
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204
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Attorney for Alliance Coal, LLC
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